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PROLOGUE


Fianna Fáil was dominant in Irish politics for the greater part of the 20th century and governed Ireland throughout the first decade of the 21st century. Founded in 1926, the party first came to power in 1932 under Eamon de Valera and formed successive governments for a 16-year period until 1948. There were two cross-party administrations, led by Fine Gael, from 1948 to 1951, and again from 1954 to 1957, both headed by a compromise figure, John A. Costello. Then Fianna Fáil returned to power, again for a 16-year period, under the unbroken sequential leadership of Eamon de Valera, Seán Lemass and Jack Lynch. During this 40-year period, from 1932 until 1973, whether in office or in Opposition, Fianna Fáil remained the central force in Irish political life, its leaders powerful and respected figures who shaped the State in most of its essentials.


Fianna Fáil was the principal legatee party of the Irish national independence revolution and this shaped its thinking and its policies. This was not exclusively beneficial. There was an authoritarian narrowness in the outlook and the national vision the party dispensed. But to a majority of people throughout most of these years, the party was a product of the central and fundamental achievement of representing the revolutionary dream and the reality of independence after being governed for centuries by Britain. In this it paralleled other legatee national independence parties, such as the Congress Party of India. Fianna Fáil’s hold on power was underpinned by supposedly bedrock principles, such as the restoration of the Irish language and the reunification of the country. Again, it has to be assumed these were supported by a largely stable 50 per cent of the population who maintained the party’s hold on power.


This predominant position allowed Fianna Fáil to create and sustain the rivalry that became a firm but puzzling political reality, that of two right-wing political movements—Fianna Fáil and Fine Gael—that never sat down together to consider a possibly closer relationship. Instead, they went forward in politics without any sustained or deep attempt to move on social reform and the development of a more equal and forward-looking legislative programme. This was a product of a ‘Third Force’ in Ireland’s political life, the Roman Catholic Church.


Both movements recognised, accepted and then became subservient to the power held and often remorselessly exercised by this organisation. The Church held its own version of power virtually until the end of the 20th century. It had always been a political movement, increasingly so in the 19th century when it became allied to the revolutionary view of politics aimed at independence from Britain. This gave it great political strength in the life of the country, binding other political organisations to its extreme conservatism. While most European countries where the dominant faith was Catholic moved on to the secularisation of power, Ireland managed to sustain the central role of the Church in social, health and sexual affairs to a degree that invaded human rights and shaped legislation. The rigidity between the two main political groupings, both of them in subservience to the Church on important matters, severely held back change and reform. That the Church played no serious part in the narrative of this book resulted from its widespread disgrace and shaming over child abuse, rendering it a marginal force for the first time in its history. Other political parties tended to be on the fringes of political life, enjoying brief periods in power as partners or supporters of Fine Gael.


Fianna Fáil as the party of industrial progress drew strength from its programme of national industrial development in the 1930s. Before Independence, the Westminster Government policy had not financed industrial development on the scale achieved for example in Northern Ireland. Seeking to obtain full political independence was, in Fianna Fáil thinking under de Valera, reinforced by his economic and industrial strategies and greatly aided by Lemass’s brand of economic pragmatism. The idea of independence being framed by a modernising programme of economic activity was made more real still by his nationalist determination to remove the insignia of the Crown, the oath of allegiance and the post of Governor General. A positive alternative inspired the adoption of de Valera’s 1937 Constitution. This was debated for a year and then passed into law by referendum, thereby asserting the sovereignty of the Irish people as the basis of that law. Fianna Fáil was also the party that kept Ireland out of World War II, supported by the vast majority of citizens at the time. All this made the loss of sovereignty here recorded, as the European Union took over control of the economy, even more astonishing in that it was surrendered by the party that had created it and made it strong.


Already dominated by threads of social and moral conservatism, it was hardly surprising that Ireland also became economically more conservative and, in due course, its exploitation of wealth and the control of business enterprise and capital investment moved into the hands of a small number of entrepreneurs and businessmen who found a natural alliance with the Fianna Fáil party. This was later encouraged by the new generation of politicians who succeeded Seán Lemass, including his son-in-law, Charles Haughey, and like-minded figures in the party such as Donogh O’Malley. The ethos created in the decade of the 1960s gave birth to Taca, a semi-secret fund-raising body of Irish businessmen essentially sympathetic to Fianna Fáil.


It was only a matter of time before this approach degenerated into a morally and administratively questionable alliance between the party and a small and select new class of wealthy people. The step from this to the Fianna Fáil party becoming a mass patronage machine, involved in planning, development and the brown-envelope culture of more recent years, was a relatively short one. The privileged became the guests of the Fianna Fáil party tent at the Galway Races in July.


The break point for this change in the life of Fianna Fáil came when Charles Haughey succeeded Jack Lynch in 1979. Far from his takeover being the success story his succession was meant to bring to the fortunes of the party, assuring further electoral victories after the Lynch landslide of 1977, it produced an indifferent series of electoral catastrophes for Haughey, paralleled by failure to act on economic difficulties. He lost his first election. He achieved a brief and unstable administration on the backs of former revolutionaries. After a full term of Fine Gael and Labour in power under Garret FitzGerald, Haughey regained power in a minority administration dependent on a mixed bag of supporters. He then called an unnecessary election that led to a formal coalition with the party’s greatest critic, Desmond O’Malley, who had formed a new political party, the Progressive Democrats. During his entire political career Haughey’s great wealth was never explained. After his career ended, his life was blighted by revelations of entirely improper receipt of large sums of money and by his acts of perjury about this. His public ruin was great and humiliating.


Bertie Ahern, his loyal political lieutenant throughout his periods in office and in Opposition, did not immediately succeed him. Albert Reynolds did. When Ahern took over in 1994, he became the party’s most notable success story, achieving three successive terms in power, unprecedented apart from de Valera’s electoral record. Ahern rode on the tide of prosperity and on the commitment he made to eradicate from political life the kind of errors of judgment that Haughey had been accused of in the tribunal of investigation under Mr Justice Brian McCracken, a model for all tribunals, though followed by none. The events in this book begin at this point, as Bertie Ahern became enmeshed in shabby dealings that were revealed by the Mahon Tribunal, and was ousted by the man he had ‘anointed’ as his successor, Brian Cowen. Brian Cowen faced a sea of problems for which he was ill-equipped and ill-prepared. This book is really the Cowen story; it tells of how he failed, leading the party into political oblivion.


He was leading an ‘all-class’ party representing the economic interests of Ireland’s manufacturing and business class, sections of the new professional class (especially public servants), the bulk of small farmers, as well as many employees and some members of the working class. Brian Lenihan Snr once said: ‘We are the Labour Party of Ireland,’ a view later expressed by Bertie Ahern, who declared himself to be the only socialist in the Dáil. How Fianna Fáil lost all these political relationships is also part of the story.


Significantly, however, pain and damage came from outside and from a reckless and irresponsible interpretation by Fianna Fáil of its rights and responsibilities within the changed circumstances of being part of the Eurozone and subject to the enhanced powers of the EU and the European Central Bank (ECB). Further to this and as a direct result of Ireland’s capacities to influence and threaten the stability of the wider Eurozone, the international concerns of the International Monetary Fund and of other global organisations became a growing encroachment on Ireland’s political and economic life. The country had benefited hugely from European funding in the early days of membership, firstly of the EEC, then of the European Community and later the EU, at a time when the Union was small and Ireland occupied a favoured place, needing and deserving subventions. This changed radically with enlargement. However, the change failed to exercise or even introduce the restraints that the economy needed and the days of the Celtic Tiger saw Ireland running out of control.


Fianna Fáil was quite out of character in its totally uncritical adoption of ultra-Europeanism. What de Valera had created, in terms of national independence and a certain European isolationism, was abandoned in a carefree and irresponsible manner. There remained the partial exception of a pretended concern for ‘Irish neutrality’. This was no more than a tattered rag, designed to keep its more traditionally inclined members and voters happy. It was valid so long as Brussels was a source of easy money and more patronage, through the Common Agricultural Policy, the EU Regional Fund, the Social Fund and other sources of ‘free’ money. Albert Reynolds won for Ireland undreamed of EU millions at the 1992 Edinburgh Summit. This bought from us espousal of, and loyalty to, the Maastricht Treaty on European Union and what was to follow, its plan for a euro currency. This was greeted by Fianna Fáil with foolish and irresponsible support for joining the euro. Ireland was not obliged to join then. It could have waited, along with Britain, to see whether they would participate, which the State’s closest neighbour and largest trading partner wisely decided not to do. No one, of course, could have predicted it, but this besotted espousal of a currency change that did not serve Irish trading interests contained the seeds for the catastrophic collapse in its judgment within Fianna Fáil, leading to a precipitate loss of power.


The crisis in the advanced economies from 2007/8 onwards did not cause a complete collapse, but has led to a major recession in the more developed economies, which threatened—and still threatens—to turn into a lengthy depression. The recession arose from the bursting of big asset bubbles in the USA and the Eurozone, bubbles that had been blown up by unsuitably low interest rates in the years before.


The response to the impending crisis has been to throw public money at the banks in the USA, and in the EU for the private bank debts to be imposed on taxpayers. In the USA lots of private banks have been let go bust, beginning with Lehmans. In the EU only two banks have gone bust so far, and they are small ones outside the Eurozone. There has been no bank failure in the Eurozone area to date—a truly extraordinary fact, because ECB policy opposes that.


Fianna Fáil—and Ireland—have suffered by joining the Eurozone. Ireland has done three foolish things: adopted the currency of an area with which the country does only one-third of its trade, exports and imports combined; adopted an interest rate regime that suited the big countries but did not suit Ireland; and put the country under the control of the ECB—from which the blanket Bank Guarantee of September 2008 and the enforced bailout of November 2010 both stemmed.


In the early 2000s Fianna Fáil behaved as if there would be cheap money for ever. This cheap money was provided by foreign EU banks that lent to Irish ones in order for them to help in the buying of Irish property. The Fianna Fáil party did not realise that the true logic of a monetary union with Germany was that the Irish should behave like Germans. Instead, Irish men and women behaved with prodigal extravagance and no concern for the morrow.


The story outlined in the following pages covers the blanket Bank Guarantee given by Brian Cowen and Brian Lenihan on the night of 28/29 September 2008. This was carried out within the ECB’s policy guidelines and was guided by direct intervention by the bank’s leader. The State could not have given that guarantee without ECB approval. It was fair and sensible in the circumstances to guarantee depositors in the banks up to a limit. The horrendous error was to guarantee bank creditors/bondholders, especially in Anglo Irish Bank. These were mainly the foreign banks. They had lent hugely to the Irish banks during the boom, for on-lending to the Irish property market.


The nation became a pawn at this stage and Fianna Fáil was blown by the harsh international winds of chance, their force and direction dictated from Brussels, Washington, Frankfurt. The American and world dimension of Ireland’s eccentric economic path, which went beyond the relatively comfortable ECB’s zone of control, should not be overlooked. Under Democratic administrations, the Americans are much more EU-oriented than when the Republicans are in charge. This has been so from the beginning of the transition through the European Economic Community, the European Community and finally the European Union. This has been especially the case since the euro currency was established. Wall Street was never happy with the euro, and it has especially distrusted the pretensions of the Eurocrats that the euro would become an international reserve currency comparable to the US dollar and might actually displace the latter in time. The Americans have also been worried about the budget deficit and bank crisis in the EU PIIGS (Portugal, Ireland, Italy, Greece, Spain) States. This is because American banks were also engaged in lending to Eurozone banks during the property bubble, but more importantly because the Credit Default Swaps (CDSs) that are normally taken out by investors and bondholders in EU banks as insurance against default are substantially underwritten by US companies like AIG (American International Group). If EU banks go bust, these CDSs will be called in by the burned bondholders and American banks and insurance companies that have insured those bonds will be badly hit.


In spring 2010 when the Greek crisis led to the first EU bailout, with the establishment of the three-year temporary EU Stabilisation Facility to rescue Greece, Barack Obama was reported as having phoned Angela Merkel to express concern that EU banks would be hit unless something like this was done, and American banks would indirectly suffer as a consequence. According to economist Morgan Kelly—and no one has denied it—US Treasury Secretary Tim Geithner vetoed any ‘haircut’ being imposed on bondholders who had lent to the Irish banks, even though Ajai Chopra and the IMF negotiators were sympathetic to this idea. As Kelly put it in his Irish Times piece on 7 May 2011: ‘At a conference call with the G7 finance ministers, the haircut was vetoed by Timothy Geithner, who, as his payment of $13 billion from government-owned AIG to Goldman Sachs showed, believes that bankers take priority over taxpayers.’


It may be worth noting that when the IMF, as international lender of last resort, is asked for a loan by some desperate country, its prescriptions normally are three-fold: to cut public spending, to raise taxes and to devalue the currency. This last is in order to establish economic competitiveness, encourage exports and thereby earn foreign exchange with which to pay off public debts. The last-mentioned is of course precluded as regards the Eurozone unless the IMF was to say that the Eurozone member countries, or just the PIIGS, should re-establish their national currencies. Dominique Strauss-Kahn was certainly not going to advocate the latter course, as an aspiring president of France. In 2010, when the IMF agreed to help out with the first EU bailout for Greece, Strauss-Kahn virtually imposed this policy on his own. He was strongly criticised for doing so by some of his fellow directors on the IMF board. To ensure that the IMF played ball with the ECB as regards the EU bailout money is the reason why the EU bureaucrats were so anxious to have Christine Lagarde as the new IMF boss. That is why Michael Portillo expressed surprise that her first public statement on hearing she had got her new job was that the IMF must help out the euro and the Eurozone. This is not of course the function of a body that has 150 or so members. But it accords with current US Government policy, which is why the Americans backed Lagarde for her new job. She would not have got it if the Americans had been against her. It is questionable whether the Irish Government ever grasped these subtleties or openly developed them as adjuncts of public policy.


During the period we cover, Fianna Fáil engaged in a love affair with the public sector trade unions through the ‘social partnership’ arrangements. These prevailed from 1987 onwards. Unfortunately, the trade union movement in Ireland and internationally has become ever more concentrated on the public sectors, which are overwhelmingly unionised—only a quarter or so of Irish private sector workers are. This had led to highly privileged and well-paid public sector workers, especially in the public service, notably teachers, policemen, health workers. The public sector pension situation is a principal embodiment of this. One can link this aspect of things to the patronage-oriented corporatist-club instincts of the modern Fianna Fáil party. They have been shared and followed by the Labour Party. Most workers and employees, however, have, until this election, traditionally voted Fianna Fáil. By February 2011 all this had changed. Where will they go in future? That is an important question.


On the night of the infamous blanket guarantee, Brian Lenihan, then newly appointed as Finance Minister and, as a lawyer, not well-versed in economics, was confronted by two of his principal seniors at the Irish Bar—both sympathetic to the banks: Dermot Gleeson as chairman of AIB and Paul Gallagher SC as Fianna Fáil Attorney General.


Gallagher would have told the two Brians, Cowen and Lenihan, that it was wrong in Irish law to draw any distinction between bank depositors and bank creditors and bondholders. This meant that they all should be bailed out. This happy legal fiction suited powerful interests and accorded with ECB policy. The same Gallagher advised the Fianna Fáil Government that there was no need for an Irish referendum on the proposed amendment to the EU Treaties permitting the establishment of the permanent European Stability Fund, coming into force from 2013. The same will probably apply to the EMS Treaty to be ratified by the end of 2012. Paul Gallagher, now no longer Attorney General, is regarded as an arch-Euro-fanatic. However, his influence on Brian Lenihan, at the time when crucial prescriptive decisions were being made, would have been huge.


If Anglo Irish Bank had been let go bust, which would have been the proper course, German, British and French banks would have lost €30 billion. There could have been ‘contagion’ to other banks across the Eurozone. If AIB and Bank of Ireland, the ‘systemic’ banks, had been restricted in the extent of their coverage by the ‘blanket’ of the guarantee, Fianna Fáil might just have gone on as the traditional ‘safe hands’ in charge of Ireland. But the hands were not safe. They were flapping in panic and the Irish people became first-hand witnesses to a very public collapse. That is the story we tell here.
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 BEGINNING AT THE END


On Saturday, 6 November 2010 the Irish Daily Mail and the Irish Independent both carried stories about Brian Cowen’s knowledge of the crisis faced by Anglo Irish Bank well before the Bank Guarantee of 28 September 2008. Up to the time of the publication of these stories, Cowen had consistently claimed that he had first heard of the problems in Anglo Irish Bank at the end of September 2008. Though this seemed highly doubtful, it had not previously been the subject of investigation or challenge. The stories alleged that Cowen first knew that the fiscal roof was falling in on the bank when he was Minister for Finance, and that he became actively involved at least as early as April 2008. He was Minister for Finance from July 2004 until 7 May 2008, when he replaced Bertie Ahern as Taoiseach. This was nearly five months before the Bank Guarantee.


The probability that he knew of the bank’s problems as Minister for Finance was argued in both stories, which alleged that Brian Cowen knew the end was nigh for Anglo Irish Bank in late 2007, and that he involved himself then in the bank’s growing crisis. In April 2008 he attended a dinner with the Anglo Irish Board in Heritage House on St Stephen’s Green, the bank’s headquarters, but his involvement and knowledge, according to both articles, pre-dated this event. The source for the stories claimed that ‘it was a dinner for Brian Cowen. Brian sat there, one of the gang.’ At this stage, while he was still Minister for Finance, he knew in some detail the state of the crisis the bank was facing. The actions he took were defensive and uncertain. He did not know what to do but sustained his knowledge through direct meetings, either in the bank or elsewhere, at which he was told about the impending disaster. It would be later claimed by Anglo director David Drumm that Cowen, when Finance Minister, had set up a ‘kitchen cabinet’ that contained several people connected with Anglo Irish Bank, such as Seán FitzPatrick. Surely they would have advised him on the detail and provided him with at least some inside information about the bank’s circumstances which, during 2008, were becoming perilous? However, it’s also easy to imagine that such information was probably being fed to Cowen on a need-to-know basis. Despite these close connections, it’s hard to imagine FitzPatrick having revealed to Cowen a full account of the bank’s precarious state and what would later emerge as illegal practices.


Cowen claimed that he first heard of the problems in Anglo Irish in late September 2008. In the debate on the introduction of the blanket Bank Guarantee by Minister for Finance Brian Lenihan, Labour Party leader Eamon Gilmore asked Brian Cowen whether he knew that Anglo Irish Bank was facing insolvency. Cowen replied: ‘No, I did not.’


The stories alleged that he was at an Anglo Irish board dinner in April of that year where the discussion was exclusively about the problems faced by the bank. Cowen, who had acknowledged earlier that he was at the April meeting, had insisted that the bank’s internal problems had not been discussed. The unnamed source for these 6 November stories claimed that the discussion was ‘openly and deliberately’ focused on the bank’s difficulties.


Seán Quinn, of Quinn Insurance, had seriously aggravated the problems faced by the bank through heavy gambling at the time with ‘Contracts for Difference’ (CFD)—a means of entering the market without buying the bank’s shares and without being subject to stamp duty—the net effect of his investment was to threaten the survival of Anglo Irish Bank. These ultimately came to represent a quarter of Anglo Irish Bank shares, but Anglo continued to haemorrhage, leaving Quinn with a €2.5 billion shortfall. On St Patrick’s Day, 17 March 2008, a month before the dinner referred to above, Anglo Irish Bank shares had been ‘attacked’ by speculators while the Dublin Stock Exchange was closed. Hedge funds had been selling the stock down. Anglo Irish Bank had responded by claiming it as cynical speculation against ‘an Irish success story’. In fact, the Seán Quinn involvement had leaked out and the bank was characterised as ludicrously over-exposed and wide open to share speculation.




Anglo director David Drumm said:


These guys [stockbrokers] don’t care about Seán Quinn, they care about hedge funds. They would have been fed the information and then taken the short position and kill [sic] the bank.


We had a mini-run on the bank. Quinn shot himself in the foot and shot the bank while he was doing it. With Quinn, our worst fear we had seen the monster [sic]. We had seen a run on the bank, most people don’t. The run didn’t take off completely. In March ’08, we just about survived. But we literally had to go into the vault and get ready to lock the doors, you know? We talked about Armageddon. The world was at the end of the line.


Quinn owned a quarter of the company. Twenty-five per cent was not on our mindset at all. Twenty-five per cent was just nuclear. We could be dead already. A drop in the share price, the way that was read on the street was the market is telling us there is a problem with that bank, i.e., a credit problem. ‘Get us out.’ When the share price drops, money goes out the door.





The bank desperately put together a group of business people known as the ‘Maple Ten’ to take on 40 per cent of Quinn’s shares, so that the former billionaire would not have to sell a significant chunk of his enormous savings. But the efforts were in vain and Anglo’s share price continued to drop from a peak of 30 to a staggering low of 21 cent.


‘Nobody in the bank—but maybe we were [distracted by] everything else going on—ever foresaw the immense damage that would do. The shock heard around the world actually killed us. The loan is probably immaterial. What was wrong with the bank is that the bank ran out of money,’ said Drumm.


This knowledge of an impending disaster was recognised and discussed by the board as early as 11 September 2007. Sensitive information was leaking from Anglo Irish Bank on a number of issues, including Seán Quinn’s speculations. One of the sources for these leaks was identified as Seán FitzPatrick, by now quite close to Brian Cowen. At one meeting Patrick Neary, the Financial Regulator, told a member of the bank’s board that Seán FitzPatrick was talking too much and too openly about the Quinn stake, which shows how up to their neck in it Neary’s office was before the placing. According to David Drumm, ‘a member of the Central Bank board had overheard Seanie at some party spouting on about Quinn and brought it back into the Central Bank board room’. Drumm was told to tell him to ‘shut his mouth’. It was alleged that if it got out, ‘there could be [a] run on the system’. Unfortunately, and despite the extraordinary fact of it being discussed at the Central Bank, leading to the instruction to shut him up, Seán FitzPatrick continued to enjoy political protection, as did Seán Quinn.


A further example of Brian Cowen’s direct involvement in the bank’s affairs was contained in the claim by the unnamed source for the 6 November stories that Cowen promised intervention with the National Treasury Management Agency (NTMA). The bank asked him to get the NTMA to put deposits with Anglo Irish Bank. Cowen knew this was necessary but, despite his claim that he had told them to step in, the NTMA failed to follow this course. Thus, though Cowen consented to the request to seek NTMA support for Anglo Irish Bank, it was not forthcoming.


The truth was that a negative decision had already been made. According to Brendan McDonagh, the former Director of Finance and Risk at the NTMA, the decision had been taken to stop placing deposits with the bank ‘because they [the Agency] didn’t understand the business model at Anglo’. McDonagh was asked whether this decision and the reasons for it were communicated to the Government. McDonagh could not answer the question. He said that such reporting was a matter for Dr Michael Somers, head of the NTMA. When questioned, Dr Somers said: ‘I didn’t know enough to say anything to anybody, and if I had, they would have said, “Would you ever go and mind your own business? This [the Bank] is a very successful institution—what are you on about?” It would not have mattered if I had said something to Cowen. What could he have done?’ This was true. Nevertheless, following a Department meeting with Dr Somers on 21 May 2008, two weeks after Cowen had become Taoiseach and had appointed Brian Lenihan as his successor at the Department of Finance, a memorandum marked ‘strictly confidential’ was prepared and circulated with the following purpose:


The key message we would wish to see communicated is that the NTMA and NPRF [National Pensions Reserve Fund] should continue its [sic] welcome engagement with the Department of Finance, Central Bank and Irish banks to help sustain financial stability.


In a context note opening the memorandum, Brian Cowen was identified, as of course he must have been, writing to Dr Somers the previous December (2007) to the effect that the two institutions ‘in view of their financial resources and commercial mandate’ needed to indicate the role they might play. The Department stressed that ‘the NTMA/NPRF can play a very important role in helping to meeting [sic] the funding needs of the Irish banks in stressed financial market conditions’. There was no exclusion of Anglo Irish Bank from these views at this stage. The memorandum emphasised the openness of the State agencies to ‘discuss commercial proposals for support from the Irish banks and [the Department] has had a number of meetings with various financial institutions on this basis’. NTMA funds had already been deposited with the main banks and, though ‘relatively small’, these were ‘an important signal to the banks of support from public authorities’, the role of the NTMA being seen as ready to ‘intervene to seek to pre-empt what might otherwise lead to a major funding crisis in an Irish bank’.


The two stories also presented a different view of the Financial Regulator, Patrick Neary. Widely characterised in the media as having been asleep at the wheel, Neary was in fact in close contact with the bank and knew what had to be done. This is also confirmed by the memorandum, which underlines the fact that the Financial Services Authority of Ireland, which includes the Financial Regulator’s office with its extensive personnel, had participated in the discussions about financial stability and the planning required to sustain it.


The Financial Regulator, the Department of Finance, Anglo Irish Bank and Morgan Stanley (through which Quinn invested in CFDs and which later advised Anglo on the Quinn situation) all knew that the CFDs spelt death for the bank and the Regulator should have picked up on them, an essential part of regulation. This was not done. Instead, the Financial Regulator, the Central Bank and the Department of Finance, with Cowen’s knowledge, were allowing Seán Quinn to take money from his insurance company and gamble it through the bank.


The treatments given in the two newspapers of this story were quite different but the message was the same. The Irish Daily Mail splashed it on page one with the headline ‘Cowen “did know about Anglo debts”’ and went on to claim that he had been ‘less than truthful’. The Irish Independent published a report and analysis inside the paper but made the same points.


Bruce Arnold’s political judgment in the Irish Independent was scathing in the following terms:


These reported events, encounters and arguments represented the most blatant and most damaging example in recent Irish economic history of the State’s interests being placed second to a corrupt, internal, private involvement of politicians and of servants of the State. In the light of it, the idea of them remaining in office any longer is repulsive and objectionable to all right-thinking Irish men and women. They must go. When they do the State must be reinvested with men and women who speak the truth and act exclusively in the interests of the people.


The stories were immediately recognised as of crucial importance to Cowen’s position and his integrity, threatening his continued leadership of the Government. Questioned by journalists on the day the stories appeared, his spokesperson said: ‘We don’t respond to comment from “anonymous sources”.’ Cowen maintained his silence despite serious, if restrained, media analysis. This spelt out the implications of what Cowen’s refusal indicated. True, the original stories were based on an unnamed director of Anglo Irish Bank. But he was identified in the stories that were published on the following day, Sunday, 7 November, as David Drumm, the former CEO of the bank, who was now living in Boston. He had filed for bankruptcy there and was the subject of ongoing legal investigation. What was more compelling was the detail, the coherence and the fitting together of circumstantial evidence.


The original stories reported a number of allegations clearly showing a serious and documented conflict between what Cowen had done at the time and his later claim that he did not know until the end of September 2008 the state of affairs in Anglo Irish Bank. The version published in the two 6 November articles said that Brian Cowen, in late 2007, had involved himself directly in the crisis at Anglo Irish Bank and had done so in response to board members, including the chairman of the bank, Seán FitzPatrick.


If true in general terms, then Cowen had taken office as Taoiseach, on 7 May 2008, already seriously compromised. This was in respect of the country’s economy and its finances through his ministerial responsibility for the Department of Finance and for other institutions involved in what happened at Anglo Irish Bank. He must have known that the banking system was in danger of loss of liquidity and credibility. Cowen himself was in the shadow of a flawed and largely disgraced predecessor, Bertie Ahern, whom he had served in the increasingly sensitive position of Minister for Finance. He was also compromised, much more seriously, by his commitment to protecting the Fianna Fáil party at the country’s expense.


Both as Minister for Finance and then as Taoiseach, Cowen gave a consistently upbeat account of the economy, including the country’s banking system. He claimed more than once that the influence of the EU project had been pervasive across every aspect of Irish life. There was a growing irony in almost everything he said.


Cowen’s refusal to respond to questions because they emanated from ‘anonymous’ sources was simply putting off his ultimate confrontation with the truth. But in the short term it worked. The stories had considerable media impact and went one step further with calls from the Opposition Leader, Enda Kenny, for an exact explanation of when Cowen had first learned of the enormous financial problems faced by Anglo Irish Bank. Specifically it was pointed out to him that the ‘Government told the Dáil this was a problem of liquidity as opposed to insolvency, so, arising from that report, if it’s to be confirmed, the Taoiseach should clarify the matter again’.


John McGuinness, a Fianna Fáil Carlow-Kilkenny deputy and long-time critic of Cowen’s leadership, said the Government ‘must have known more than they admitted. I think that an awful lot of people involved, including the Department of Finance—so you can extend that to include Brian Cowen—must have known … what was going on in relation to the banking system.’


Brian Cowen managed to deal with these challenges and to ignore the central questions raised by the David Drumm allegations in the two articles of 6 November. But he was running out of time and room to manoeuvre.


Then came a curious intervention from two quite different journalists, Tom Lyons and Brian Carey, who had been covering the Anglo Irish Bank story (for the Sunday Times) since the crisis began in 2007. Tom Lyons, a business reporter, met Seán FitzPatrick in May 2009 and began taping interviews with him, which were published in The FitzPatrick Tapes. According to Penguin, which published the book, FitzPatrick ‘talked at length and in detail about his banking experiences and philosophy, his colleagues and clients, his investments, his public disgrace, his arrest and his bankruptcy’. Adding to these details ‘their many sources within Anglo, the state and the business community’, the two reporters wrote the story, ‘a tale of toothless regulators, hopeless accountants, politicians and civil servants out of their depth, and businessmen in denial about the crash’. To the surprise of the authors of this book, very little was confirmed of their discoveries in respect of Brian Cowen’s involvement with Anglo Irish Bank. However, there was a great deal of other confirmation, expanded from the tapes and other researches to considerable length, and giving a vivid portrait of such characters as Seán Quinn.


The hands of all the principal participants holding power and having a role in Ireland’s economic collapse seem to have been stayed by the sustained protection of Seán Quinn. His contribution to the collapse of confidence in Anglo Irish Bank—and his extraordinary gambling in the bank’s shares—plays a huge and almost totally distorted part in The FitzPatrick Tapes. So much is said of his role and so little of that of other people, notably Brian Cowen, that one has to search for hidden reasons. One of these is the fact that Fianna Fáil, including Cowen, according to David Drumm, lobbied for Quinn and thereby helped to protect him. They must have done so on account of Quinn having made a huge contribution to the party—part of the business world’s backing for Fianna Fáil, and in the end the source of its collapse—which was a recognised component of the earlier invincibility of Fianna Fáil. It explains why the Financial Regulator, who knew that Quinn was taking money from his insurance company—picked up by the bank’s auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers (PWC) of Belfast—and that this was illegal on two counts, did not act as he should have done. Quinn, effectively, was ‘untouchable’.


If we pursue the fact that what is offered in The FitzPatrick Tapes on Quinn is not balanced with the negligible detail on Cowen’s knowledge, a story emerges that is totally at odds with the version given by David Drumm and confirms the concealment or misrepresentation by Seán FitzPatrick of what was happening in Anglo Irish Bank or between himself and Brian Cowen. These were things not to be told.


In respect of Cowen, The FitzPatrick Tapes contains two episodes highlighted in the Penguin Ireland publicity leaflet. The first of these was that Cowen had taken a call in March 2008, while on a trip to Malaysia, from Seán FitzPatrick. The Anglo Irish chairman was reporting on the so-called ‘St Patrick’s Day Massacre’ of Anglo shares on the London Stock Exchange.


Given the discussions that had gone on in all the major financial institutions in Ireland, as well as in the Department of Finance, involving the Minister himself—at the time Brian Cowen—FitzPatrick’s account of his contact with the Taoiseach, two weeks after Cowen took up the premiership, simply does not make sense. FitzPatrick rang Cowen on his mobile. Cowen was staying in Kuala Lumpur at the Shangri-La Hotel. He says that he spoke about ‘rumours going round about the bank that were unfounded’. Cowen had little to say. In the circumstances this is not credible and the absence of any questioning of it, as a response by the head of the Irish Government, who had been involved also as Minister for Finance during the whole period in which Quinn had invested in CFDs a figure that rose from €653 million in 2006 to €790 million in 2007, was significantly worse than the extraordinary performance by the bank’s chairman, which FitzPatrick’s ‘explanation’ to Cowen represented.


The second episode, equally unbelievable, was the occasion when Seán FitzPatrick spent an entire day with Brian Cowen in July 2008, playing golf at Druids Glen, having lunch and dinner, but at no stage discussing the growing crisis faced by the bank or the potential further damage of Seán Quinn’s involvement. Their seven-hour interlude, according to FitzPatrick, included discussion of ‘the world, Ireland, the economy’. It did not cover Seán Quinn, Anglo Irish Bank ‘or anything like that’! What else could have been like that? One supposes the answer is: wholesale CFDs on all sides. Quinn was special, a funding backer of Fianna Fáil to a huge extent and therefore not to be touched. Luckily (relatively speaking) no one else was so favoured, so flawed and so fatal. ‘Uncharacteristically’, according to the authors of The FitzPatrick Tapes, FitzPatrick refused to be drawn further!


It was not difficult for Cowen to concur later with this version. By the time he did so, however, the difficulty he faced was that of being believed. Further details emerged. One was the presence, during the golf outing, of Gary McCann and Fintan Drury, two of the bank’s directors, fuelling greater disbelief in the idea that the fortunes of Anglo Irish had not been discussed. The other was the presence in the hotel of Caoimhghín Ó Caoláin, of Sinn Féin, who was at a wedding reception and spoke to Cowen. On foot of these slight references, Cowen was later confronted with a new set of questions about what he knew and when. He was able to say that no crisis was discussed and no one could assert the opposite. The confrontation on this in the Dáil by Opposition Party leaders followed. Cowen came out of it superficially unscathed but in fact irreversibly wounded. It seemed to the authors of the present book that The FitzPatrick Tapes had all the appearance of a tailor-made script for Brian Cowen, giving him events where he could easily answer in the negative and sustain his denial about the quite different Drumm allegations.


Six days later we published the full facts, naming our source, who had already been widely named and exposed by other newspapers. David Drumm did not participate any further. We confirmed that he was frustrated by the way the media were distorting all stories related to him and portraying him simply as the only villain who had wrecked Anglo Irish Bank.


The sensational defence, by the court trustee in David Drumm’s bankruptcy hearing in Boston, in November 2010, centred on the fact that Anglo made €7.65 million available to Drumm for fraudulent purposes. The trustee was challenging that Anglo’s change of loan documentation from ‘non-recourse’ to ‘recourse’ was a ‘fraudulent transfer’. It removed value from David Drumm’s ‘estate’ that would otherwise be available to creditors. Lawyers appointed by the Irish State as part of its investigation of the affairs of Anglo were involved, according to Drumm, in order to challenge the bank in respect of the loan documentation. They were legally impeded in this by the bankruptcy proceedings.


Drumm acted honourably in the face of incorrect loan documentation. The first documents would have released him from paying back the loans. Instead, he signed new documents in return for the bank agreeing that it would not sue him, or possess his family home, and would give him long-term repayment schedules, since the shares and his income had disappeared.


Anglo reneged on this, dragging Drumm into court in November 2009, just in time for the Budget. He fought the case and tried to settle, which Anglo did not want. It ‘preferred’, seemingly for image purposes, the ‘hot pursuit of bankers’.


Drumm offered all his assets and his pension fund voluntarily. This was ignored. Instead, assets were to be force-sold, but minus huge bankruptcy costs swollen by the quite unnecessary legal pursuit. Drumm’s wife agreed to transfer their house in Malahide back to him in order for it to be surrendered. The bank’s response was to object in court and seek an injunction against the attempt to put the house back into joint names, which would have allowed it to be surrendered!


A letter to Drumm of 10 January 2008 spelt out that the loan was to buy Anglo shares. It detailed strict security charges. The Boston hearing made it unlikely that Anglo would achieve anything like Drumm’s offer to the bank because of the claim by bankruptcy trustee Kathleen Dwyer that these claims undermined the bank.


Drumm was scathing about what was being done:


The ‘arm of the FF Junta’ that is Anglo Irish Bank let it be known they were going to ‘oust’ the Court appointed trustee in my case. I had no choice in this Trustee and she operates totally on the directions of the Court. The mandarins are trying to keep up the image of ‘following bankers/developers to the ends of the earth’. What they have done here is not only stupid, it is reckless, wasteful, cynical and worse.


The Boston hearing was widely covered—two pages in the Irish Independent. RTÉ gave the story 18 seconds. On the main evening news Eileen Dunne told taxpayers: ‘A trustee in the case of the bankruptcy of the former chief executive of Anglo Irish Bank, David Drumm, has claimed that Anglo Irish Bank’s entire claim on Mr Drumm is based on a fraudulent premise. The Boston attorneys say Anglo Irish gave Mr Drumm the money to buy shares in his own company and, as this was illegal, it negates their claim on Mr Drumm.’ Big story, small coverage. RTÉ reported, the next day, that the trustee had decided to counter-sue Anglo Irish Bank, which was seeking to have her dismissed. RTÉ conceded: ‘this is rapidly becoming a complex and surprising court case’.


Making scapegoats to bear the blame for Ireland spiralling down into huge debt had been the response of the Cowen Government essentially because of his own mismanagement of public affairs. The response was not otherwise directed at bankers, who were central to the economic collapse, but it was singularly virile against David Drumm. There was also a dogged pursuit of developers through the National Asset Management Agency (NAMA). They again had become the victims of slack management and were now faced with the wholesale confiscation of their assets. The bank bailout, the austerity Budget and the IMF loan left ordinary Irish men and women with a huge clear-up operation and a load of debt. In addition, it seems evident from the extensive treatment of Seán Quinn by Seán FitzPatrick, in a chapter entitled ‘The Mighty Quinn’ in The FitzPatrick Tapes, that he also was a suitable person to be sacrificed.


As a result of the publication of The FitzPatrick Tapes, the reappearance of the David Drumm arguments and recollections took on a quite new and powerful significance. Brian Cowen’s troubles deepened by the hour. He made a lengthy statement to the Dáil on 13 January 2011 concealing more than he conceded. The FitzPatrick Tapes had provided Cowen with three events that he could easily answer, by way of denial, though nothing was easy about the answers he gave: the St Patrick’s Day phone call, the Anglo Irish Bank board dinner and the game of golf. Whatever one may think about the truthfulness or otherwise of the Taoiseach’s account, it cannot be challenged further without forensic investigation and testimony on oath.


Many people in Ireland today would like to see that kind of investigation replacing the shambles in the Dáil as Cowen, more or less successfully, indulged in political rhetoric, insults and jibes. He managed to put over the claim that, on all occasions summarised above, nothing was said about the crisis facing Anglo Irish Bank. Drumm has stated:




He [Cowen] was acutely aware of our problems. The conversation at that dinner was interesting. The big man has been less than truthful about it.


I spoke with him one to one for quite a while about the NTMA and the other issues we were facing [at the dinner]…. Every board member will confirm—the conversation was dominated by funding problems and the image of Ireland abroad and the need to send out the right messages to the international investor community.


This was back in early 2008. He was acutely aware of our funding problems back then—how can he now claim he only realised the problems in September 2008?





The claim that Cowen did involve himself from an early stage—and while still Minister for Finance—in the Anglo Irish Bank crisis at that time had become irrefutable. Cowen’s claim that he first heard of the problems in Anglo Irish in September 2008 looked more and more ridiculous. His position was fundamentally changed when it became clear that the source for the information was known to be David Drumm. The comparison between The FitzPatrick Tapes version of events and the version from David Drumm was starkly convincing in favour of Drumm. His words ring as true as they did then, with the added advantage of his name being behind them.


Drumm claimed that Cowen promised intervention with the NTMA in order to get the agency to put deposits with Anglo. ‘We requested it to Brian Cowen through Fintan [Drury],’ Drumm said. He knew this was necessary. No one saw it otherwise. It had become necessary after St Patrick’s Day 2008. The NTMA, quite properly, failed to follow this course. It was too late. The damage was done. Only a year prior to this request, the NTMA had stopped putting substantial amounts of State money into Anglo after assessing it as an unacceptable risk, even though it offered the highest interest rate available. It would have been seriously improper if it had done otherwise.


But despite this astute move, Drumm claims that Cowen nevertheless ‘intervened with the NTMA to get them to deposit with Anglo’. Drumm says he was ‘not surprised at all’ that Cowen agreed to help because ‘Seán was in there’. There was even greater impropriety for the Minister for Finance—knowing what he knew then of the vulnerable state of Anglo Irish Bank—in taking the unprecedented step (now denied) of applying to the NTMA. The full truth about this would clarify the hopelessly compromised way in which we do public business in this country.


The fact that the anonymous source was David Drumm was revealed in the Irish Daily Mail on 14 January 2011. The occasion was the publication of the fullest possible text on Cowen’s involvement and knowledge. This had been far from the case with The FitzPatrick Tapes. In contrast with that book and with the previous day’s Dáil performance by the Taoiseach, the Drumm information—as opposed to The FitzPatrick Tapes—rings true in its general detail and in the specifics on what Cowen knew and when he knew it.


The full text on the part played by Drumm, now in the public domain, confirms the close-knit kitchen cabinet set up by Fintan Drury, the facilitator for Cowen who needed close and frequent contact with Seán FitzPatrick, who was—according to Drumm—sharp, able and well-advised. He said: ‘He [Fintan] didn’t sit on the right hand of God [Seán FitzPatrick] because that was me, but he sat on the left hand of God. Probably Fintan considered he was doing both a favour. Brian Cowen, by helping him, and by doing Seán a favour getting him plugged into the future Taoiseach.’


Drumm claimed that other kitchen cabinet members included Indecon Economic Consulting Group’s managing partner Alan Gray and its former chairman for an Advisory Board of Directors, Paddy Mullarkey. But in November 2010 both men denied when asked by a newspaper if they were on Cowen’s so-called kitchen cabinet. However, in January 2011, Alan Gray admitted that he’d been at the infamous golf outing in July 2008 to brief Cowen on the economy. Cowen would later admit in the Dáil that both men attended lunch with FitzPatrick.


When he was Finance Minister, Cowen appointed Gray as Director of the Central Bank and Financial Services Authority of Ireland and also as a member of the Irish Financial Services Regulatory Authority (IFSRA). Mullarkey is a former Secretary General at the Department of Finance and was an NTMA adviser.


In late 2010, Indecon contacted the website forum politics.ie to ask them to ‘point out that despite what’s been posted here and alluded to, Indecon have never acted for Anglo Irish Bank in any capacity’.


Only days prior to the banks’ bailout, Drumm says he and FitzPatrick met with Gray as a ‘go-between’ between Anglo and the Department of Finance. He says the intervention was needed because Finance ‘wouldn’t tell us what way they were thinking’.


According to Drumm, calls were made to Alan Gray. He was asked: ‘What should be done? What are they thinking? Are we doing the right things? Are we doing the wrong things? There could be no direct communication with the Department of Finance.’ At meetings there attended by Drumm and FitzPatrick, the officials would sit and listen and look. In the end no one was any the wiser. According to Drumm, ‘They wouldn’t tell them what to do. They wouldn’t help us.’


Their kitchen-cabinet meetings were, roughly speaking, on a weekly basis and took place in Government Buildings, Drumm claims.


On that much-noted dinner that Anglo Irish Bank directors had with Brian Cowen in Heritage House, Drumm stated: ‘The dinner was for Brian Cowen. We put the dinner together for him. It would be really unusual to bring somebody with him. Brian sat there, one of the gang, right beside me.’ At the dinner, Drumm asked Cowen if he had done anything about this essential deposit. Cowen did not say he told Dr Michael Somers.




We had a long conversation about our Budget worries and that not only would Anglo like the money, but that it would help to send out the right signal to the market—that the Government was supportive of the bank because ‘right now the market know [sic] that you may have a problem with Anglo’.


It was to combat the negativity in the market. We had to shout. We could work a little bit harder and shout it out, ‘Put your money in Ireland’—whereas the Government was allowing this negative wave to flow over.


This is an Irish bank, Irish money and the Germans have 200 million—why can’t we get more from our own country? So, when I asked had anything happened with it, he [Cowen] looked (or feigned) surprised and said, I quote, ‘I told those fuckers’.


It’s only now that I know that they [NTMA] had some issue with us, that they didn’t like us. They never came to us. They never crossed-examined our numbers. They never asked to see our loan book.





With the ‘bank on the verge of collapse’, our whistleblower, Drumm, says the Regulator worked ‘hand in hand’ with Anglo in an effort to get an investor on board.




When it became a problem [auditors PWC Belfast picked it up in the 2007 audit] the Regulator tried to get Anglo to lend money to fix the problem—i.e cover their ass.


They hounded Anglo to place the Quinn stake—daily phone calls and regular meetings. They were 100 per cent involved in the placing and were fully briefed on ALL aspects of it by the Bank and by Morgan Stanley….


I find it hard to be critical of the Regulator from the place that we were in. The global financial system had completely collapsed. There had been a major meltdown. The Central Bank and the Regulator were trying to survive the global meltdown. They were doing things as if they were in [a] battlefield. Say with the Quinn stock, the Regulator knew about it. Not only did he know about it, he was organising things and at one point I’d say harassing the bank to get it done. The Regulator was hand in hand with us and, I’m not exaggerating, through all attempts.


The impact on our daily cash balances [was that they] were literally melting while this was going on. The issue was, ‘How much money went out today?’ If the balance sheet wasn’t changing at all, we could have ignored it. So, we had to do something.





Morgan Stanley put together a ‘firm list’ of potential investors.




[They] would make a phone call and say, ‘There’s a Western European bank of a certain size—are you interested [in that] type of thing?’


We ran to the Regulator and told them what we were going to do. They were thrilled. The main thing was, can you get it done? ‘Yeah, we think we can get it done?’ We felt we would be handpicking the client who would have the financial wherewithal to handle that kind of exposure.





Drumm flew out to the Middle East in an effort to get Saudi investors and the Regulator would constantly phone him. ‘The Regulator would be on to me non-stop asking “How did you get on in the meeting today? Have you got another meeting tonight?”’ said Drumm.


Drumm thought the meetings were ‘actually going well, but then they didn’t go ahead’. Anglo also had two meetings with the Dutch Rabo Bank, but unfortunately ‘that didn’t work either’. Drumm believes the bank would have found an investor and probably survived if Lehman Brothers hadn’t crashed.


Drumm is highly critical of the Financial Regulator, Pat Neary, for denying prior knowledge about the Quinn disaster, adding that it’s ‘unquestionable that they fucking knew’. He says the Regulator should have stepped in sooner. He also believes that ‘shouting it out loud would have been the better thing to do’ when they first learned about the Quinn situation in September 2007, which they internally described as ‘our own September 11’.


He believes that Fianna Fáil protected Quinn.




There is no question, there never has been in my mind, that Quinn was protected. Quinn is still protected. Quinn should be investigated. Quinn speculated with a credit institution. Corporate gambling. Really he got away with it.


If Quinn wasn’t a regulator entity, they then could have concentrated on the effect on Anglo. Quinn was a regulator entity; so there you had one regulator entity breaking the law, taking money out of the insurance company, buying stock, gambling the stock in the bank. It’s illegal.


Buying the stock wasn’t illegal, but because he was a regulator entity, it didn’t matter that it wasn’t illegal, the Regulator could have forced him to [stop it].


But they [Regulator’s office] didn’t do it. They knew that he was taking the money out. And rather than say, ‘stop and put the money back’, he [Neary] worked with Quinn, he worked with the bank in the same mode—trying to save the bank at the same time.


The primary focus of the board and the regulator and the bank and the Department of Finance and everybody else was the Quinn thing. This wasn’t [a case of us] being quiet until we arrived into the Regulator saying it.





Cowen later denied that he knew in March 2008 about the crisis facing Anglo Irish Bank. And yet Quinn was not fined by the Irish Financial Services Regulatory Authority for using customer insurance premia to build up his stake in Anglo until seven months after this event, in October 2008. Why was there such a delay? Could there have been a stalling tactic to resolve the issue before it became public knowledge? But the most damning thing of all from Cowen’s perspective is his insistence that when he became aware that Anglo’s market value had been substantially increased by Quinn’s crazy gambling instincts, his only response was to pass on the information to the Central Bank. It all sounds implausible and has the whiff of a cover-up. Could Quinn—a man who once boasted that he had every mobile phone number for the Cabinet—have been, as Drumm suggests, protected by Fianna Fáil?


In our not inexperienced political judgment, this further publication of detail and of facts was as close as we could get to the truth at that time. David Drumm was prepared and happy ‘to join everybody on the one stage—Brian Cowen and all the rest. I’d be happy to admit all my mistakes. But the problem is they want me to do it all on my own.’


This shabby episode—still not fully explored or explained—was a blatant and damaging example of the State’s interests being placed second to a ‘corrupt, internal, private involvement of politicians and of servants of the State’ in misdoings of a frightening kind that have now led us into gigantic and improperly imposed debt.


Changing Cowen would not change the culture that bred this pus-filled carbuncle of iniquity. Changing the Government would help, but would still leave us with a huge burden of reparation. We needed to reinvest the State with men and women who speak the truth and act exclusively in the interests of the people. How this was achieved, over a period of four years, is the subject of the following pages.
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